IN THE COURT OF APPEAL FOR THE STATE OF RECOVERING AND ADDRESS OF APPEAL FOR THE STATE OF RECOVERING ADDRESS OF THE STATE OF ADDRESS OF

ESTATE OF THELMA AILENE SARGE; ESTATE OF EDWIN JOHN SARGE; and BY AND THROUGH THE PROPOSED EXECUTRIX, JILL SARGE,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORPORATION; and ROSE HILL, LLC,

Defendants-Appellees.

On Appeal from the First Judicial District Court, Carson City County Case No. 16 RP 00009 1B, Honorable James T. Russell, presiding

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal filed pursuant to Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 3A(b)(l). On December 6, 2016 the Honorable James T. Russell of the First Judicial District Court entered an order cancelling the notices recorded against the subject real property commonly described as 1636 Sonoma Street, Carson City, Nevada [ER 6-8], and on May 12, 2017 an order granting Respondents' motions to dismiss Appellants' complaint without leave to amend ("Order"). [ER 1-5] Moreover, on December 27, 2018 this Court overruled its decision in Mallin v Farmers Insurance Exchange, 106 Nev. 606, 609, 797 P.2d 978, 980 (1990) to the extent it holds that cases consolidated in the district court become a single case for all appellate purposes and ruled consolidated cases retain their separate identities so that an order resolving all of the claims in one of the consolidated cases is immediately appealable as a final judgment under NRAP 3A(b)(1). Thus, confirming the orders appealed herein are appealable.

II.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the district court erroneously granted the motion to dismiss after considering materials outside the pleadings?

Pursuant to NRS 107.080(3) and (4), did the trustee of the deed of trust have to give notice to the grantors of the recorded deed of trust and the heirs of a recorded deed upon death where it had actual knowledge of the death of the grantors' death and where an heir of the grantors had notified the beneficiary that all future correspondence and notices are to be sent to her home address and where the beneficiary did, in fact, begin sending correspondence and notices to the heir at her home address prior to the foreclosure sale?

Does service of a notice of default and election to sell real property ("NOD") and a notice of sale ("NOS") substantially comply with NRS 107.080(4) where the trustee admits it did not comply with the statute when it did not serve the NOD and NOS with a "return receipt requested"?

Does NRS 107.090 require heirs of an estate to record a notice in the county where the real property is situated to impart notice to a trustee and beneficiary of their interest claimed in it?

Whether the holding in *Rose v. First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n*, (1989) 105 Nev. 454 regarding the notice requirements of NRS 107.080 is no longer applicable given the 1989 and 2005 amendments made to the statute?

Whether NRS 111.699 requires an affidavit of death and death certificate to be recorded in the county where the real property is situated in order to effectuate a transfer of the title to the beneficiaries of a recorded deed upon death? Whether the district court erred ordering the notices of pendency of action canceled and expunged where NRS 107.080 explicitly requires a plaintiff to timely file a notice of pendency of action when filing an action for failing to give the required notices proscribed in the statute?

III.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The district court granted Respondents' motions to dismiss the complaint for failing to provide notice to the grantors as required by Nev. Rev. Stat. ("NRS") §§ 107.080(3) and (4)(a) [ER 19-24], without leave to amend, [ER 1-5] because it reasoned Appellants' did not: 1) comply with the recording statute i.e., NRS 107.090 [ER 203] by recording a request for notice;¹ 2) apply for an injunction to stop the foreclosure [Id.];² 3) that providing written notice [ER 180-81] to QLS prior to the foreclosure sale regarding its failure to comply with NRS 107.080(3) and (4) [ER 105-7] does not constitute notice [ER 203]; 4) Appellant's notification to Champion Mortgage Company³ ("CMC"), shortly after the death of Thelma Sarge and prior to the recording of the NOD and NOS, of her mother passing,

¹ Nevada law does not require the recording of a request for notice.

² Nevada law does not require the filing of an application for an order to stop a foreclosure sale where a trustee has not provided the notice required by NRS 107.080(3) and (4).

³ CMC is the Beneficiary of the subject deed of trust. [ER 71-2; 74-5; 77-83] CMC is a fictitious business name for Nationstar Mortgage, LLC. [Id.]

providing CMC with her current mailing address, and advising CMC that all communications regarding the grantors' mortgage were to be sent to her at her address also did not constitute notice [ER 168]; and Appellants written notice to QLS [ER 180-1] prior to the foreclosure sale did not constitute notice. [ER 203, lines 12-13] It reasoned further that QLS had substantially complied with the notice requirements of Section 107.080(3) and (4) [ER 203-4; 205].

Although the order dismissing the complaint was based upon motions to dismiss the complaint, the district court considered evidence outside of the pleading meaning it should have been construed as a motion for summary judgment. [ER 1]

The parties presented uncontroverted evidence that the QLS and CMC had actual knowledge both grantors, Edwin and Thelma Sarge⁴ ("Grantors" or "Trustors"), were deceased prior to recording the notice of default and election to sell ("NOD"). [ER 77; 158; 160-61; 163; 168; 165-66; 208-09] Appellants presented uncontroverted evidence that CMC and QLS had actual knowledge of Grantors' notice address to wit 159 Empire Lane, Carson City, Nevada, 89706-0734. [ER 158; 160-61; 163; 168; 165-66; 208-09] Appellants presented uncontroverted evidence that Grantors were receiving notifications from CMC at the notice address. [Id.] QLS presented uncontroverted evidence that it did not

⁴ Grantors executed the deed of trust individually and in their capacities as trustees for The Sarge Family Trust dated March 28, 1988. [ER 45; 52-3; 55]

serve Grantors a copy of either the NOD or notice of sale ("NOS") at the notice address. [ER 85-8; 96-8] Moreover, QLS presented uncontroverted evidence that it did not send the NOD "return receipt requested" as required by NRS 107.080(3). [ER 85; 96] Finally, Appellants presented uncontroverted evidence QLS received notice prior to the foreclosure sale that it had failed to comply with NRS 107.080(3) and (4). [ER 180-81]

The district court also canceled the recorded notices of pendency of action and the recorded complaint all of which were recorded in compliance with NRS 107.080(5)(c). [ER 6-8]

IV.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 26, 2006 Edwin and Thelma Sarge executed a deed of trust in their individually and their capacities as trustees of The Sarge Trust Dated March 28, 1988 ("Sarge Trust") ("Deed of Trust") secured on the real property commonly described as 1636 Sonoma Street, Carson City, Nevada ("Property"). [ER 45; 52-3; 55] In their individual capacities and their capacities as trustees, Edwin and Thelma Sarge are the grantors/trustors of the Deed of Trust. [ER 45-55]

On April 26, 2006 the record title owner of the Property was the Sarge Trust. [ER 45-55; 60-2] On May 8, 2008, Edwin and Thelma Sarge became the record title owner of the Property as joint tenants with rights of survivorship. [ER 60-2] Also on May 8, 2008, Edwin and Thelma Sarge recorded a deed upon death transferring title to the Property upon the death of the surviving joint tenant to their children, Jill Sarge, Jack Sarge, and Sharon Hesla. [ER 63; 65-66]

Edwin Sarge died on August 13, 2011 ("Estate of Edwin Sarge"). [ER 305] An affidavit of death of Edwin Sarge was not and has not been recorded. [ER 149] Thelma Sarge died on April 28, 2015 ("Estate of Thelma Sarge") (collectively, "Estates"). [ER 168] An affidavit of death of Thelma Sarge was not and has not been recorded. [ER 149] Shortly after the death of Thelma Sarge and before the recording and service of the NOD and NOS, Appellant, Jill Sarge ("Jill Sarge" or "Appellant"), notified CMC of her passing. [Id.] CMC advised Jill Sarge it was the beneficiary of the deed of trust. [Id.] Jill Sarge advised CMC her mailing and physical address is 159 Empire Lane, Carson City, Nevada ("Empire Lane Address" or "Notice Address"), and that all communications regarding grantors' mortgage were to be sent to her at the Notice Address. [Id.] Thereafter, prior to the recording of the NOD and the NOS, Jill Sarge began receiving correspondence addressed to the Estates of Edwin Sarge and Thelma Sarge at the Notice Address she had given to CMC. [Id.]

On November 5, 2015 [ER 208-9], January 23, 2016 [ER 158; 168], June 6, 2016 [ER 160-1; 168] CMC sent monthly reversable mortgage statements addressed to the Estate of: Thelma A Sarge at the Notice Address.

Jill Sarge would contact CMC on a regular basis to ascertain what her options were for retaining and/or selling the Property. [ER 168] CMC advised Jill Sarge, among other things, she or another heir could sell the Property to another entity at a minimum sales price of 95% of the current appraised value of the Property, if less than the outstanding balance on the loan. [ER 168] On February 4, 2016 Jill Sarge notified CMC she acknowledged the "95% of Current Appraised Value Loss Mitigation Option" and advised CMC the heirs intended to sell the Property. [ER 163; 168] Thereafter, on March 8, 2016 CMC sent correspondence to the Estates of Edwin and Thelma Sarge at the Empire Lane Address acknowledging receipt of Jill Sarge's request for information regarding options for the Estates and the heirs of the Estates pertaining to the disposition of the Property. [ER 165-6; 168]

On August 18, 2015, CMC recorded a substitution of trustee in Carson City substituting QLS in as the trustee of the Deed of Trust. [ER 74-5] QLS is the agent for CMC.⁵ On September 2, 2015, QLS recorded the NOD. [ER 77] The NOD states:

⁵ A deed of trust involves three parties. *Vien-Phuong Thi Ho v. Recontrust Co.*, NA, 858 F.3d 568, 570 (9th Cir. 2017) citing *Yvanova v. New Century Mortg. Corp.*, 62 Cal. 4th 919, 926-27, 199 Cal. Rptr. 3d 66, 365 P.3d 845 (Cal. 2016) (explaining California deeds of trust (Nevada deeds of trust are identical to California deeds of trust)). The first party is the lender (i.e., "CMC"), who is the trust beneficiary. Id. The second party is the borrower-trustor (i.e., the Estates), who holds equitable title to the property. The third party is the trustee (i.e., QLS), an agent for both the lender and the borrower who holds legal title to the property and is authorized to sell the property if the debtor defaults.

"The reason why the deed of trust is in default and this foreclosure has commenced is as follows: <u>Borrowers have died</u>, and the property is not the principal residence of at least one surviving borrower and, as a result, all sums due under the note have become due and payable."

[ER 77]

On the date the NOD was recorded the record title owner of the Property were decedents, Edwin and Thelma Sarge ("Decedents") i.e., their Estates. [ER 60-2] The Grantors/Trustors remained the Decedents in their individual capacities and their capacities as trustees of the Sarge Trust.

Despite QLS: 1) having actual knowledge of the deaths of the Grantors/Trustors [ER 77]; 2) CMC having been notified all communications pertaining to the mortgage were to be sent to the Notice Address [ER 168]; 3) and CMC having sent numerous communications to the Estates at the Notice Address [ER 158; 160-1; 163; 165-6; 208-9]; QLS, admittedly, did not serve the NOD to the Estates or the Sarge Trust at the Notice Address. [ER 85-8] QLS mailed the NOD to the Grantors/Trustors and record title holder at the Property address, 1636 Sonoma Street, Carson City, Nevada on September 10, 2015 ("Property Address"). [ER 84-8] Moreover, QLS did not serve the NOD "return receipt requested" as required by NRS 107.080(3). [ER 85]

QLS caused the NOS to be recorded on August 29, 2016. [ER 92-4] Again, despite the last known address of the Grantors/Trustors/Sarge Trust being the Notice Address, QLS, admittedly, did not serve the NOS to them at the Notice Address. [ER 96-8] NRS 107.080(4)(a). Instead, QLS mailed the NOS to the Grantors/Trustors/Sarge Trust at the Property address on September 10, 2015, and August 31, 2016, respectively. [ER 96-8]

Given both Edwin Sarge and Thelma Sarge had died prior to the recordings of the NOD and NOS it was not possible for either of them to have received notice on their behalf or on behalf of the Sarge Trust because they were dead.

None of the Heirs were ever served with either the NOD or NOS. [ER 150]

On October 6, 2016, Appellants notified QLS it had failed to serve the NOD and NOS on the Grantors/Trustors and demanded it cease and desist from foreclosing on the Property until it had complied with NRS 107.080(3) and (4). [ER 180-1]

On October 13, 2016, QLS completed the foreclosure sale of the Property without having complied with NRS 107.080(3) and (4). [ER 104-107: 107]

On October 31, 2016, Appellants filed and recorded their complaint for QLS's failure to comply with NRS 107.080(3) and (4). [ER 19-24] They also filed and recorded their notices of pendency of action pursuant to NRS 107.080(5)(c). [ER 25-32]

On November 3, 2016 Respondent, Rosehill ("Rosehill"), recorded its Trustee's Deed. [ER 269-71] On November 30, 2016, Rosehill moved, pursuant to NRS 14.010 to expunge the notices of pendency of action. [ER 250-63] On December 6, 2016 the district court entered its order expunging the notices of pendency of action and the recorded complaint. [ER 6-8]

V.

Argument

A. Standard of Review re Summary Judgment and Dismissal.

An order granting summary judgment is reviewed de novo. *Walker v. Am. Bankers Ins. Grp.*, 108 Nev. 533, 536, 836 P.2d 59, 61 (1992). An order granting dismissal of a complaint under NRCP 12(b)(5) "is subject to a rigorous standard of review on appeal." *Buzz Stew, Ltd. Liab. Co. v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 227, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008). All factual allegations in the complaint are deemed to be true and all inferences drawn from those facts will be in favor of non-moving party. Id. at 228. A complaint will be dismissed only if it appears beyond a doubt that the plaintiff could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle it to relief. Id. The district court's legal conclusions are reviewed de novo. Id.

A district court's decision is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Tighe v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't*, 110 Nev. 632, 634, 877 P.2d 1032, 1034 (1994). The record considered by the district court is reviewed to determine whether its decision is supported by substantial evidence. <u>Id</u>. A decision that lacks support in the form of substantial evidence is arbitrary or capricious, and thus an abuse of discretion that warrants reversal. Id.

B. Dismissal Order Should Have Been Order for Summary Judgment.

The first question on appeal is whether the district court improperly granted QLS and Roseville's motions to dismiss rather than treating them as motions for summary judgment. If "matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the court," a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted "shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56." NRCP 12(b). *Schneider v. Cont'l Assurance Co.*, 110 Nev. 1270, 1271, 885 P.2d 572, 573 (1994). A district court must treat a motion to dismiss as one for summary judgment "where materials outside of the pleadings are presented to and considered by the district court." *Schneider* citing *Thompson v. City of North Las Vegas*, 108 Nev. 435, 438, 833 P.2d 1132, 1134 (1992).

Here, the district court's written decision did not exclude matters outside the pleadings; rather, it shows that the court considered exhibits which QLS submitted in support of its motion to dismiss and disregarded Appellants' uncontroverted evidence. [ER 1-4] Thus the district court erroneously granted the motion to dismiss after considering materials outside the pleadings. However, when a district court errs "in failing to expressly consider respondents' motions as one for summary judgment," the appellate court is "not obliged to reverse," but "simply reviews the

dismissal order as if it were a summary judgment." *Schneider* citing *Thompson*, 108 Nev. at 438-39, 833 P.2d at 1134.

C. Summary Judgment.

A district court shall grant summary judgment "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Schneider* at 1272; NRCP 56(c). "A litigant has the right to trial whenever the slightest doubt as to remaining issues of fact exists." Id. citing *Roy v. Lancaster*, 107 Nev. 460, 462, 814 P.2d 75, 76 (1991) (citing *Oak Grove Inv. v. Bell & Gossett Co.*, 99 Nev. 616, 623, 668 P.2d 1075, 1079 (1983)).

1. Procedures for Non-Judicial Foreclosures.

NRS 107.080 governs nonjudicial deed-of-trust foreclosure sales and sets forth the substantive requirements and procedures for such sales. *Las Vegas Dev. Grp., Ltd. Liab. Co. v. Blaha*, 416 P.3d 233, 236 (Nev. 2018).⁶ NRS 107.080(5) only applies to actions challenging the procedural aspects of a nonjudicial deed-of-trust foreclosure sale.⁷ Id. at 237.

⁶ This case refers to the version of NRS 107.080 in effect prior to 2011. However, the principal of the decision holds true in the current version of the statute applicable to the foreclosure sale herein.

⁷ If this appeal were to be reviewed by the standard applied to a complaint dismissed pursuant to NRCP 12(b) i.e., all allegations of the complaint are deemed to be true,

Subsection 5(a) states that a sale under "this section may⁸ be declared void" if the trustee "authorized to make the sale does not substantially comply with the provisions of this section." Id. at 236; NRS 107.080(5)(a). Subsection 5(b) requires that such an action be commenced "within 90⁹ days after the date of the sale." Id.; NRS 107.080(5)(b). Subsection 6 allows 120¹⁰ days to commence an action if proper notice is not given pursuant to NRS 107.080(3) and (4). Id.; NRS 107.080(6). Thus, if the trustee authorized to conduct the sale fails to substantially comply with NRS 107.080(5). By the statute's plain language, challenges to those violations are subject to the time limitations in subsections 5 and 6. Id.; NRS 107.080(5) and

then the complaint has alleged that QLS did not provide the Grantors notice. [ER 22 at paragraphs 8-12] Consequently, dismissal is improper.

⁸ In 2011 Assembly Bill 284 amended NRS 107.080(5) by deleting the word "may" and adding the word "must." Consequently, the applicable version of NRS 107.080(5) to this foreclosure sale requires "a sale made pursuant to this section <u>must</u> be declared void by any court of competent jurisdiction in the county where the sale took place."

⁹ In 2015, Senate Bill 239 amended NRS 107.080(5)(b) by shortening the period of time to commence an action from 90 to 30 days. At the same time, subsection 6 was amended by shortening the period of time to commence an action for failure to substantially comply with subsections (3) and (4) from 120 days to 90 days. The portion of the statute regarding receipt of actual notice of the sale was also deleted leaving "after the date of the sale." Consequently, the applicable version of NRS 107.080(5)(b) and (6) to this foreclosure sale requires an action must be commenced, respectively, within either "30 days after the date of the sale."

¹⁰ See preceding footnote regarding current time frame.

(6). Proper notice of a foreclosure sale is mandated by NRS 107.080. *Nev. State Bank v. Jamison Family P'ship*, 106 Nev. 792, 800, 801 P.2d 1377, 1383 (1990).

2. Grantor/Trustor/Record Title Holder at Recording of NOD.

The Grantors of the Deed of Trust are the Sarge Trust and the Estates of Edwin and Thelma Sarge. [ER 45-55] The holders of the title of record on the date the NOD was recorded were the Estates of Edwin and Thelma Sarge.¹¹ [ER 60-62] The district courts finding of facts that the last known address of the Decedents and Jill Sarge is the Property address [ER 2 at paragraph 5] is not supported by substantial evidence. Nor is its conclusion that the heirs are the record title owner pursuant to the deed upon death. [ER 2 at paragraphs 2 and 6]

3. Service of NOD to Known Addresses.

NRS 107.080(3) required QLS to mail a copy of the NOD via registered or certified mail, return receipt requested and with postage prepaid to the grantor or to

¹¹ QLS has contended that the deed upon death [ER 65-66] Decedents had recorded made Decedents' adult children the record title owners at the time the NOD was recorded and, therefore, the Estates are not the real parties in interest and the complaint should be dismissed. [ER 37-39] (The district court did not dismiss the complaint based upon this contention [ER 1-4]) First, assuming for the sake of argument the Estates were not the record title owners, they remain the Grantors of the Deed of Trust and therefore have standing to bring the action. NRS 107.080(6). However, a recorded deed upon death does not effectuate the transfer of title to the heirs until an affidavit of death of the surviving joint tenant is recorded. NRS 111.699; Minutes of the Senate Committee on Judiciary, Seventy-sixth Session, Feb. 16, 2011, S.B. 88, Pg. 8 ("Minutes"). [ER 132] Here, an affidavit of death has not been recorded for either Decedent. [ER 149]

the person who holds the title of record on the date the NOD is recorded at their respective addresses, <u>if known</u>, otherwise to the address of the Property. NRS 107.080(3).

a. The NOD Was Not Sent to the Known Address.

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