IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 73286

Electronically Filed Jun 03 2019 04:04 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

ESTATE OF THELMA AILENE SARGE and ESTATE OF EDWIN JOHN SARGE, JILL SARGE

Plaintiff and Appellant

V.

QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORPORATON and ROSEHILL, LLC

Defendant and Respondent

Appeal from a Judgment

Of the First Judicial District Court, County of Carson City Nevada Hon. James T. Russell, Presiding

District Court Case No. 16 RP 00009 1B Consolidated with 16 PBT 00107 1B And 16 PBT 00108 1B

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

 $NRS \$ 107.080 et. seq. as effective in 2015 – 2016 specifically sets forth the parties the Trustee is required to supply with the statuorily required notices of foreclosure and lays out the steps to complete a non-judicial foreclosure. Further, $NRS \$ 107.080 requires substantial compliance. As set forth herein QLS complied with the requirements of the statute by providing notice via certified mail and regular mail to all parties found in the land records where the property is located.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An order on a motion to dismiss is reviewed de novo. *Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 227–28, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008). Questions of statutory interpretation are reviewed de novo. *MEI-GSR Holdings, LLC v. Peppermill Casinos, Inc.*, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 31, 416 P.3d 249, 253 (2018); *D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 125 Nev. 449, 456, 215 P.3d 697, 702 (2009). When interpreting a statute, if the statutory language is "facially clear," this court must give that language its plain meaning. Id. An order on a motion for summary judgment is reviewed de novo. *Pressler v. City of Reno*, 118 Nev. 506, 509, 50 P.3d 1096, 1098 (2002). The district court properly converted the motion to dismiss to a motion for summary judgment as the court considered evidence outside of the pleadings. See *NRCP 12(b)* (providing that if the court considers matters outside of the pleadings in reviewing an *NRCP 12(b)(5)* motion, "the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment"). The district court also properly granted respondents summary judgment on appellant's breach of contract, unjust

enrichment, and punitive damages causes of action. See *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005) (explaining that this court reviews a district court's order granting summary judgment de novo).

LAW AND ARGUMENT

A. The Deed Upon Death Transferred Title to the Property to the Intended Beneficiaries and the Intended Beneficiaries Cannot Avoid the Effect of the Deed Upon Death by Filing A Probate Action Instead of Complying with the Statutory Requirements.

In order to avoid probate and effectuate a transfer of the real property, the Sarges' utilized a very simple non-probate mechanism to transfer title to the property, the Deed Upon Death.

NRS § 111.671 provides:

"The owner of an interest in property may create a deed which conveys his or her interest in property to a beneficiary or multiple beneficiaries and which becomes effective upon the death of the owner."

The Real Property Transfer on Death Act was adopted by Nevada in *NRS §* 111.655 et. seq. In interpreting uniform acts the Nevada Supreme Court has stated that "an official comment written by the drafters of a statute and available to a legislature before the statute is enacted has considerable weight as an aid to statutory construction." *SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank N.A.* 334 P.3d 408 (Nev. 2014). In summarizing the Uniform Real Property Transfer on Death Act (hereinafter "URPTODA") the Uniform Law Commission has expressly stated that "URPTODA

enables an owner to pass real property to a beneficiary at the owner's death simply, directly, and without probate by executing and recording a TOD deed. Just as importantly, URPTODA permits the owner to retain all ownership rights in the property while living, including the right to sell the property, revoke the deed, or name a different beneficiary." Expressly a Deed Upon Death "is not subject to the statute of wills and passes title directly to the named beneficiary without probate." Id.

Once the Deed Upon Death is recorded, the asset becomes a "non-probate" asset. "Nonprobate assets are interest in property that pass outside of the decedent's probate estate to a designated beneficiary upon the decedent's death." *In re Estate of Myers* 825 N.W.2d 1 (Iw 2012). Generally because they pass pursuant to a contingent contract, Nonprobate assets do not become part of a probate estate. *Karsenty v. Schoukroun*, 406 Md. 469, 959 A.2d 1147, 1158 (Md. 2008) (holding that a TOD account was not part of the decedent's testate estate because the decedent's interest in the property did not survive his death, which is when the TOD account "transferred to [the beneficiary] . . . 'by reason of the contract' between him and [the administrator of the account]"); *Restatement (Third) of Property: Wills and Other Donative Transfers* § 1.1 cmt. b, illus. 12, at 10 (1999) ("Because [the grantor's] ownership interest in the account and in the securities expired on her death, no part of the balance in the account at her death or of the securities is included in [the grantor's] probate estate.")

Nevada defines "Nonprobate transfer" as:

"[The] transfer of any property or interest in property from a decedent to one or more other persons by operation of law or by

contract that is effective upon the death of the decedent and includes, without limitation:

- (a) A transfer by right of survivorship, including a transfer pursuant to subsection 1 of NRS § 115.060;
- (b) A transfer by deed upon death pursuant to NRS § 111.655 to 111.699, inclusive; and
- (c) A security registered as transferable on the death of a person.

Accordingly, pursuant to the Deed Upon Death title transferred upon the death of the last remaining Grantor to the intended beneficiaries, to wit, the Sarges' children. All that was required to complete the transfer of the property was the recording of the required notice. Pursuant to NRS § 111.683, a deed upon death is effective without: 1. Notice or delivery to or acceptance by the beneficiary or beneficiaries; or 2. Consideration. While title to the beneficiaries of the Deed Upon Death may not have been perfected due to failure to record the required notice document, title still transferred without an unnecessary probate action, accordingly the "Estate of Sarge" (which has never been established) had no standing to bring an action relative to the subject real property as the subject real property is not, and has not been part of the Sarge probate estate.

B. The Foreclosure Trustee Complied with the Statutes and Provided all Required Notices of Foreclosure.

1. The Notice of Default was Mailed as Required by NRS § 107.080(3) to the Person Holding Title of Record as on the Date the NOD was Recorded

NRS § 107.080(3) specifically requires the Notice of Default be:

"mailed by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested and with postage prepaid to the grantor or to the person who holds **the title of record** on the date the notice of default and election to sell is recorded." (Emphasis supplied)

On September 2, 2015, the Notice of Breach and Default and of Election to Cause Sale of Real Property under Deed of Trust was recorded in the official records of Carson City (AER VOL. 1 0077) – on September 2, 2015, the title holder of record was either the original borrower, Thelma Sarge, or the beneficiaries of the Deed Upon Death, Jill A. Sarge, Jack C. Sarge, and Sharon R. Hesla. (AER VOL. 1 @ 0063 – 0066)

NRS § 107.080(3) does not require the Trustee to go further than the property records to determine who is entitled to notice of impending foreclosure. Turner v. Dewco Servs. 87 Nev. 14 (1971). In Nevada, an interest in property must be recorded in order to entitle an individual to notice under the Nevada non-judicial foreclosure statute. Title Ins. Co v. Chicago Title Ins. Co. 97 Nev. 523 (1981) Taking into account the policy considerations involved, we are of the view that when a contract for the sale of real property is duly recorded, the vendee under such a contract is entitled to notice pursuant to NRS § 107.080(3). Actual notice is not necessary as

long as the statutory requirements are met. *Hankins v. Administrator of Veterans Affairs* 92 Nev. 578 (1976). Further, substantial compliance is all that is required under this statutory scheme. *Thomas v. Fannie Mae* 408 Fed. Appx. 122 (9th Cir. 2011) Nevada law requires only that a trustee send [foreclosure] notices by certified mail, not that a trustee personally serve a plaintiff or that a plaintiff receives actual notice. *Riehm v. Countrywide Home Loan Inc* 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 121114 (D. Nev. 2012).

In New Jersey, foreclosure sales continue to be proper, even if there is an unrecorded interest, of whom the party is actually aware, whom was not noticed. *PNC Bank v. Axelsson* 373 N.J. Super 186 (2004). In Texas, it is actually codified by statute that "a conveyance of an interest in real property...is void as to a subsequent purchaser if the interest was not recorded at the time of the subsequent purchase. *Realty Portfolio v. Hamilton* 125 F.3d 292 (5th Cir. 1997).

All parties to the Deed Upon Death were required by statute to insert a current mailing address. *NRS § 111.312*, thereby providing recorded information that could be relied upon by third parties regarding the subject real property. QLS utilized the information contained in the Deed Upon Death and sent the required notices of Default there.

It is undisputed that the Notice of Default were mailed to the record title holder, at the recorded address, whether the record title holder was the original

borrowers or the beneficiaries of the Deed Upon Death. The NOD was mailed on September 10, 2015. (AER VOL. 1 @ 0085). The mailing was first class and certified and included 24 regular mailings to the subject property and 24 certified mailings to the subject property. (AER VOL. 1 @ 85 – 88). The mailing also included 5 regular mailings and 5 certified mailings to the Care Law Address. (AER VOL. 1 @ 0085 – 0088)

2. The Notice of Sale was Mailed as Required by NRS § 107.080(4) to the Trustor of the Deed of Trust, and each Person entitled to Notice by Statute

NRS § 107.080(4) governs the noticing of the foreclosure sale

The trustee, or other person authorized to make the sale under the terms of the trust deed or transfer in trust, shall, after expiration of the applicable period specified in paragraph (d) of subsection 2 following the recording of the notice of breach and election to sell, and before the making of the sale, give notice of the time and place thereof by recording the notice of sale and by:

(a) Providing the notice to each trustor, any other person entitled to notice pursuant to this section and, if the property is operated as a facility licensed under chapter 449 of NRS §, the State Board of Health, by personal service or by mailing the notice by registered or certified mail to the last known address of the trustor and any other person entitled to such notice to this section;

The last known mailing address of the trustor, was the property address; the last known address for the beneficiaries of the Deed Upon Death was the Care Law Address. The property address was the only address available to the foreclosure trustee because no new address for the Trustor had been recorded. The Trustee

complied with the statutory requirement to give notice. It is undisputed that the Notice of Sale was mailed certified mail and regular mail to the record title holder (be it the decedents or the beneficiaries of the Deed Upon Death) at the recorded addresses multiple times.

NRS § 107.090(1) defines a "person with an interest", which an individual required to receive notice, as:

"any person who has or claims any right, title or interest in, or lien or charge upon, the real property described in the deed of trust, as evidenced by any document or instrument recorded in the office of the county recorder of the county in which any part of the real property is situated."(Emphasis Added)

Nevada law requires the notices to be sent to the address in the property records, and proof of receipt of the notices is not required to validate a foreclosure sale in Nevada. *Turner v. Dewco Servs*. 87 Nev. 14 (1971) (finding "no breach of the statutory duty to send the notice by certified at the address known by the grantor. The statute does not require proof that the notice be received.").

The only court to interpret the noticing requirement concerning unknown entities found that successor entities have a duty to forward their mail and take affirmative steps to receive notice when their contact information has changed and furthermore that a foreclosure trustee is not required to search out people with interests. *Madrid v. Del Mar Commerce Co.*1 0 B.R. 795 (Bankr. Nev. 1981). On August 29, 2016; the Notice of Trustee's Sale was recorded in the Carson City

property records (file No. 467446) and provided for a sale date of October 6, 2016. (AER VOL. 1 0092 – 0094) The Notice of Trustee's Sale was mailed to the subject property regular mail 11 times and certified mail 11 times. (AER VOL. 1 @ 0096 – 0098) It was sent to the CARE Law address regular mail 5 times and certified mail 5 times. (AER VOL. 1 @ 0096 – 0098).

3. The Trustee Substantially (If Not Strictly Complied With The Notice Provisions of NRS § 107.080 by Providing Notice to All Record Notice Holders.

Finally, $NRS \$ 107.080 (2015 – 2016) version is a substantial compliance statute, $NRS \$ 107.080 (5) provides:

Every sale made under the provisions of this section and other sections of this chapter vests in the purchaser the title of the grantor and any successors in interest without equity or right of redemption. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 7, a sale made pursuant to this section must be declared void by any court of competent jurisdiction in the county where the sale took place if:

(a) The trustee or other person authorized to make the sale does not substantially comply with the provisions of this section;

In, *Bayview Loan Servicing, LLC v. Holm Int'l Props., LLC*, No. 71715 (Nev. Feb. 15, 2018), Bayview contended that the foreclosure sale should be deemed void because its predecessor was not mailed the notice of sale, however, this Court determined that the equities weighed in favor the HOA purchaser, because Bayview had record notice of the notice of sale for over four months before the foreclosure sale took place. Citing to *SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC v. First Horizon Home Loans*, 134

Nev., Adv. Op. 4 at 6, ___ P.3d ___ (2018) (observing that the purpose of Nevada's recording statutes is to "impart notice to all persons of the contents thereof" (quoting NRS § 11.320). Here, the beneficiary of the deed upon death, by its own records knew the loan had been referred to foreclosure (see AER @ 0160).

Here, the evidence is that the Trustee did substantially comply with *NRS* § 107.080 by sending the notice to the Trustor at the subject real property and by sending notice to the Beneficiaries of the Deed Upon Death at the address delineated in the Deed Upon Death. The Court should not reward the Appellants inaction.

4. NRS § 107.080(3) Was Amended in 1989 To Remove any Requirement to Mail to a "Successor in Interest".

The District Court correctly held that *Rose v. First Federal Sav. & Loan Ass'n*, 777 P.2d 1318 (Nev. 1989), was inapplicable to the instant matter as the legislature in 1989 (1989 Statutes of Nevada, Page 1771 (CHAPTER 750, SB 479)) removed the words [or to his successor in interest at the address of the grantor or his successor in interest] and replaced those words with "to the grantor, and to the person who holds the title of record on the date the notice of default and election to sell is recorded, at their respective addresses, if known, otherwise to the address of the trust property." The decision in *Rose (id.)* rest squarely on language of the statute, "contrary to the apparent intent of the legislature as evidenced in NRS § 107.080(3) that the grantor/debtor's successor in interest should receive any notice that the

grantor/debtor had the right to receive." Once the language requiring notice to a successor in interest (potentially indefinable parties) was removed and replaced with readily identifiable parties "to the grantor, and to the person who holds the title of record on the date the notice of default and election to sell is recorded" the need to attempt to identify successors or interest was removed.

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